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historic The Oaks II 

and or common The Riggs Farm 

2. Location 
6010 Riggs Road ··~ 6 S tE, R·~:JJ ~Oct~ 

(pceoeRt! adaress} _ not tor publication street & number 

city, town Claysville Laytonsville 
~ vtcrnity of congressional district E i 9 ht h 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

state Maryland code 24 county 

3. Classification 
Category 
_ district 
.1L bulldlng(s) 
_ structure 
_ site 
_ object 

Ownership 
_lL public 
_ private 
_ both 
Public Acquisition 
_ In process 
_ being considered 

Status 
_ occupied 
-X.. unoccupied 
_ work In progress 
Accessible 
_ yes: restricted 
_ yes: unrestricted 
_no 

4. Owiier of Property 

name Montgomery County Government 

Montgome ry 

Present Use 
_ agriculture 
_ commercial 
_ educational 
_ entertainment 
_ government 
_ Industrial 
_ military 

street & number Montgomery County Off ice Building 

code 031 

_ museum 
_ park 
_ private residence 
_ religious 
_ scientific 
_ transportation 
_ other: 

city, town Rockville _ vicinity of state Maryland 20852 

5. Location of Legal Description 

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Montgomery County Courthouse 

street & number 

city, town Rockville state Maryland 20852 

6. Representation in Existing Surveys 
Maryland Historical Sites Inventory · . 

•tie has this property been determined eleglble? _ yes _no 

date x _ federal _ state _ county _ local 

depository for survey records Maryland Historical Trust 

city, town Annapolis 
state 

Maryland 21401 



Comimon 
_exce!ient 
-~good 
_fair 

_ deteriorated 
_ ruins 
_unexposed 

Check one 
_ uriaiiered 
~altered 

Check one 
):;,_ orig~na.I sii.e 
_moved date ___________ _ 

To be moved 8/80 

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance 

Presently situated in an open field on the southeast side of Riggs Road 
northeast of Claysville, The Oaks II is a l~-story gambrel-roofed structure 
with an adjoining 1-story gable-roofed addition to the east. This 
building and three surrounding outbuildings will be moved to a nearby 
location by the Montgomery County Government this summer. The new site 
is a topographically similar 5-acre parcel of land on the northwest side 
of Riggs Road an eighth of a mile northwest of the present site. 

The main block and the addition are both constructed of logs connected 
with full dove tail notching and chinked with wood chips, mud, and stone. 
Both sections were originally covered with simpler unadorned weatherboards. 
In the main section a huge exterior brick chimney with corbel capping 
is located on the west gambrel wall; a smaller interior brick chimney 
rises above the east facade. The kitchen wing displays a massive exterior 
stone based chimney along its east gable wall. 

The main block which faces south is four bays wide with a one-story 
open porch spanning the front. The porch with its standing seam tin roof 
and porch posts appears to have replaced an earlier porch. Entrances 
are found in the two central bays. Windows with 6/6 sash flank these doorsr 

Both the door and window trim are later modifications. Three shallow 
pedimented gable-roofed dormers pierce the wood-shingled gambrel roof. 
The west facade is characterized by a single 6/6 sashed window to the 
north of the chimney. Two smaller 4/2 sashed windows flank the chimney 
at attic level. Molded rakeboards and shallow cornice returns further 
define this facade. The rear (north} facade is very plain: a doorway 
opposite the main facade's west entrance and a small 6/6 sashed window to 
the east. The steep gambrel roof is also distinguished by three shallow 
pedimented gable-roofed dormers. 

The one story kitchen wing to the east is two bays wide with its primary 
entrance located in the western bay of the south facade. A 6/6 sashed 
window is found to the east. A lean-to frame addition extends across the 
north facade. Unadorned rakeboards outline the east gable end. 

Interior 

The main building's floor plan, a double parlor floor plan which features 
single doors on the southern facade leading into each room, is a first 
floor plan generally associated with Pennsylvania and northern and western 
counties in Maryland. The southeast parlor exhibits a very fine paneled 
mantel wall, complete with six-panel door which leads through a lobby to 
the mid-nineteenth century one-room addition. The chairrail and trim 
around the 6/6 windows are original. In the.upper sash can be read "Sam 

,-- Riggs and Buffalo Bill, Decem 1885." A modern pantry closet, which replaced 
a corner cupboard removed by the Letts family after 1930, has been inserted 
to the left of the mantel. A modern door leads into the pantry, which is 
now covered with thin 20th century vertical board paneling. A post 1930s 
mantel shelf built by Mr. Austin Geisbert now covers the original fireplace. 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #1. 
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An original thin vertical board partition wall separates the two 
parlors. The door separating both rooms appears to be originalr complete 
with six raised panels but later box lock. Later molding, a Victorian 
four-panel door on the north (rear) facade of the house and a simple mantel 
replacing the original have altered the character of the room 1 but much 
of the original decorative material remains. Here, the chairrail is 
intact, and a paneled door to a closet below the stairs reveals a number 
of wrought iron nails with rose heads and flat points (corroborating 
the pre-1814 construction date). Later but still historically significant 
na~es are scratched into the panes of the windows in the western gable 
and read "Ruxton Ridgely Nov. 27, 1892" and below it "Lousia Lilly Riggs 
Nov. 27, 1892." A small face is also etched into one pane. 

/~ A tight winder stair in the southwest corner of this parlor rises 
to the second floor. Here is sound one of the most unusual features of 
the building. A hallway runs the entire length of the southern facade, 
leading to a door whichopens into a space between the main block and the 
addition. A ladder leads to the attic (here, early machine cut nails-­
brads, for securing the attic flooring--were located, also pointing to a 
very early 19th century date) and through the gable end of the building 
into a small sleeping quarters above the addition. The hallway is 
highlighted by contrasting paint colors--cream on the baseboards, door 
rails and styles, and darker leaf green on the remaining stair balusters 
and wall surfaces. Three bedrooms of equal size are found in the other side 
of an original vertical beaded board partition which runs the length of 
the hall. The first and third doors are original, but with a minor 
variation. Instead of the top two panels, three panes of glass forming 
a transom have been built in. 

As with the rooms on the first floor, much of the original fabric 
can be found. In the northwest bedroom the chairrail and baseboards 
are intact. The mantel has been removed. The central bedroom retains 
original chairrail and baseboards, and has a window pane reading "S. Riggs 
Jan 11 1886." The northeast bedroom exhibits original trim, but has 
also had its fireplace blocked. 

Outbuildings 

Also on the property are several outbuildings which although of 
later period possess architectural and historical significance. 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #2. 
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An animal shed, located about 25' northeast of the main house, is a 
nearly square, gable-roofed frame structure of board and batten siding. 
Corner posts and plates are hand cut square members. Measuring 
10'6" x 14' the building appears to be used for storage. 

Immediately to the east of this structure is the smokehouse. This 
building, measuring 14 1 2" x 14 1 2" is a board and batten structure. Its 
gable roof is covered with corrugated iron over its original dark green 
shingles. The blackened interior shows hand-hewn posts which support 
similar hand-hewn plates. A shelf running along the western facade 
appears original. 

About 55 1 west of the animal shed is a curious building now used 
as a chicken coop but whose original use is unknown. This heavy post and 
lintel framing system, hand-hewn, suggests that this structure is perhaps 
the oldest of the group. The construction features include windbracing 
at the corners, and hand~hewn rafters roof butt-jointed and pegged. It 
is sheathed with board and batten siding and has a feather-edged shingle 
roof. 

Located about 50' from The Oaks II is a bank barn measuring 
approximately 61' x 46 1 and built on a stone foundation. Its post and 
beam construction is sheathed by vertical boards, punctuated by many 
wooden ventilator panels. 

The water tower, dating from the twentieth century, is built on a 
concrete base. It is sheathed with board and batten, and supports a 
pallet which holds a large cistern. This structure, it is believed, 
is unique in the county. 

The remaining outbuildings which date from the twentieth century 
possess no particular architectural or historical significance: the 
windmill, the frame outhouse measuring 4'2" x 4'2", a frame storage 

building measuring 8 1 x 12', the frame pump house, the gambrel roofed 
frame barn measuring 84' x 40', the frame dairy barn measuring 30'x74', 
the two frame double corn cribs, a tractor and machine shed measuring 
79'x 22', a chicken coop measuring 12'x20' and three hog sheds. Also 
of little merit is a 2~ story frame farmhouse which was moved to its 
present location about 50 years ago by Austin Geisbert. This simple, 
early twentieth century dwelling is located just east of The Oaks II. 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #3. 
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The Montgomery County Government recently purchased The Oaks II 
farm, a 550-acre tract, from the estate of John C. Letts for use as a 
sanitary landfill. The county, realizing both its need to find a 
suitable location for this facility and its responsibility to preserve 
the county and the state's cultural resources, has chosen this site 
since it appears that this location would affect the least number of 
known cultural resources. The obvious adverse impact on this architec­
turally and historically significant complex however has prompted the 
county government to take the following action. The historic area work 
permit for the construction of the landfill will be issued contingent 

~~ upon several conditions. These conditions are: 

1. The main building at The Oaks II farmstead and three outbuild­
ings (the animal shed 1 the smokehouse, and the storage shed) 
will be moved intact to a new site. 

2. The water tower and the pumphouse will be made available to 
Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning for their use. 

3. An archeological survey, performed by The Maryland Historical 
Trust, will be executed prior to construction of the land£ ill. 

4. A positive easement on the property will be given to The 
Maryland Historical Trust indicating that the restoration of 
both the interior and the exterior of the farmhouse would occur. 
The easement would cover both the exterior and the interior of 
the farmhouse. The county will make every effort to provide 
funds for the restoration through either its own channels ~r 
outside support. 

5. The move of the complex will be fully documented. 

6. A professional contractor who specializes in moving historic 
buildings will be employed by the county. 

7. A minimum 5-acre site will be selected for the buildings. 
This site, located directly across Riggs Road, is similar to 
the original farm of the Riggs family. 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #4. 
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8. The Historic Preservation Commission of Montgomery County will 
work with the Laytonsville community in attempts to establish 
plans for the adaptive re-use of the buildings. 

9. The Oaks II complex will be nominated to the National Register 
of Historic Places. 

In addition to these conditions, the county will, if possible, make 
available to the community the buildings not approved for preservation. 

While there appears to be no feasible alternative for the preserva­
tion of The Oaks II at its present site, the Montgomery County 
Government has made great efforts to properly relocate the complex. 

The new setting and the general environment of the proposed site is 
topographically similar to the original site. Located not more than an 
eighth of a mile northwest of the present site, this parcel of land 
was also used as grazing fields by the previous owner of The Oaks II. 
More importantly, it was part of the original tract of land farmed by the 
Riggs family. This open field, bordered to the south by a small cluster 
of oak trees and to the north by an intermittent stream, perhaps more 
sympathetically evokes the original setting of The Oaks II. Its present 
site has been compromised by the intrusion of several twentieth century 
structures and by the loss of many of its shade trees. 

In its present condition, the property's architectural integrity has 
also been challenged. Used as a storage shelter by its previous owner, 
the main building has been abandoned for many years. The three 
outbuildings have received minimal maintenance. While these buildings 
have escaped severe structural damage and have retained a surprising amount 
of their original fabric, they are in need of preservation attention. 
The county has committed themselves not only to moving but also to 
restoring these structures, thus saving and preserving a group of 
buildings of great architectural significance. 

Although it is doubtful that this complex will continue to function 
as a farm on its new location, the county has planned for its adaptive 
reuse. Two alternatives include returning the property to private owner­
ship or making it available to the neighboring town, Laytonsville, as a 
community center. The first proposal would not affect the integrity of the· 
complex since it would only be returning to its original use, that of a 
private residence. The second suggestion would not dramatically alter the 
historical integrity of The Oaks II since the Riggs family has played an 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #5. 
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active role in the civic and agricultural affairs of the community. 

The Oaks II complex represents an important architectural and 
historical resource of the county and the state. In its effort to 
preserve this property, The Montgomery County Government has south to 
maintain its architectural and historical integrity and reestablish its 
immediate setting and general environment. 
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Period Areas of Significance-Check and justify below 

_1400-1499 
_ 1500-1599 
_ 1600-1699 
_x_ 1700-1799 
_x_ 1800-1899 
_1900-

_archeology-historic 
_agriculture 
l architecture. 
_art 
_commerce 
_ communications 

Specific dates 1794-1814 

_ ccrr~:-:-M:..;~d:).- pLs.::ning _ Ic:..r:::2c2;:: a;chfts::ture_ rc!'.z'~n 
_ conservation _ law _ science 
_economics _literature _sculpture 
_ education _ military _ social/ 
_engineering _music 
_ exploration/settlement _ philosophy 
_ industry _ politics/government 
_invention 

Builder/ Architect Reuben Riggs 

humanitarian 
_theater 
_ transportation 
_K__ other (specify) 

local history 

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) 

SIGNIFICANCE 

The Oaks II, built between 1797-1814, is significant for its 133-year 
association with the Riggs family, a prominent Montgomery County family 
active in civic and agricultural affairs of both the county and the state. 
The house is a well-preserved, rare example for Montgomery Coun·ty of a 
l~-story, gambrel-roofed build1ng of log construction. In addition, 
much of its original interior fabric remains intact. Although the 
Montgomery County government, who recently purchased the 550-acre tract 
for the construction of a sanitary landfill, plans to move the main house 
and three significant outbuildings to a nearby parcel of land, this new site 
is part of the original Riggs tract of land. The use of this land itself 
holds historical importance having been farmed continuously from the 18th 
century and having survived intact in Montgo~ery County where intensive 

/""°"development has been the norm since World War II. The continuous use of the 
property as a farm residence since the 18th century indicates that 
archeological deposits documenting changing artifact patterns through time 
shouldbe present. The county therefore will conduct an archeological survey 
to insure that these resources will be fully investigated. 

HISTORY 

In 1197 Samuel Riggs acquired two parcels of land from Isaac and Hannah 
Briggs. When Riggs died in 1814 he left to his son, Reuben, 222~ acres 
"where he now lives." An additional note in his will (probated in Montgomery 
County 7/15/1814) states that this land was the property Reuben's father 
acquired from the Briggs' on December 9, 1797. County tax records of 1804 
also list Reuben Riggs owning a 222~-acre farm in this vicinity. This 
information suggests that the house, The Oaks II, was erected between 
1797 and 1814 and probably between-J.797 and 1804 by Reuben Riggs. In 
analyzing the building's fabric, a construction date withing this time 
period appears plausible. 

Reuben Riggs, born May 25, 1775, married in February 1805 Mary Willson 
Thomas also from a prominent Montgomery County family. As a prosperous 
gentleman farmer~ Riggs continued to expand his estate. At one time he 
owned 800 acres. After his death in 1829, his widow Mary and unmarried 
son Hezekiah remained it The Oaks II. Rueben's oldest son Samuel of R received 
a nearby tract of land totalin9 282~ acres where he and his wife Milcah 

~~Griffith renovated The Oaks I.3 This house was probably built by Samuel of 
R's grandfather, Samuel. After the death of Hezekiah in 1851 The Oaks II 
farm was also acquired by Samuel of R. 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #6. 
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Samuel of R continued to purchase 4property, owning at one time 
almost 1,000 acres of rich farmland. He also pursued a political career 
serving as county commissioner from 1856-1861 and as delegate in the 
State House from 1867-1874. Under his ownership The Oaks II was no 
longer occupied by members of the Riggs family but tenanted:by a 
farm manager, Henry Crockett, who supervised the extensive farm opera­
tions for Samuel of R. 

Samuel of R's son, Reuben, inherited the farm after his father's death 
in 1882. It appears that The Oaks II continued to function as housing 
for the farm employees. After Rueben's death in 1910 his sons ran the 
farm. Samuel Haines and his family rented The Oaks II from Sam Riggs III. 

After more than one hundred years of Riggs ownership the farm was 
sold to John c. Letts in 1930.s Before this final transfer of title 
the family graveyard was moved to St. John's cemetery in Olney. Letts, 
who farmed the land to grow feed for his dairy cattle at Ayrlawn on 
Old Georgetown Road, continued to lease the property. Austin Geisbert, 
using a frame house which had been moved to the farm as his residence, 
converted The Oaks II into a storage shelter. The Geisberts are widely 
known throughout the state for their farming as well as for the 
accomplishments achieved by their children in 4-H and State Agricultural 
Competitions. 

Architecturally, the house is an unusually intact survival of a very 
early nineteenth century log building in Montgomery County, with much 
of its original architectural detail intact. From a construction 
standpoint, the house is also important as it shows a regional variation 
in framing. At-the doorway opening logs appear to be fitted into slotted 
verticle posts, but with their leading edge also fitting in front of 
the post. As one of two historic gambrel-roofed houses left in the 
county, these factors add up to make The Oaks II truly significant. 

Although archeological investigations have not been conducted, the 
continuous utilization of this property as a farm residence since th~ 
last quarter of the eighteenth century should have produced distribu­
tion patterns of artifacts around the residence and outbuildings which 
will prove of value in documenting the changes in Southern Maryland's 
rural society since the Revolutionary War period. 

1 
Montgomery County Land Records Montgomery County Courthouse, 

Rockville, Maryland. G/161~ H/82.' 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #7. 
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2· 
Roger B. Farquhar, History of Montgomery County, Maryland: 

Old Homes and History. Monumental Printing Co., Baltimore, Md., 
1952. p. 311. 

3Montgomery County Land Records. BS 7/283-5. 

4 
op.cit. 310 Farquhar, p. 

5 Montgomery County Land Records. 512/407. 
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DESCRIPTION 

CONDITION 

_EXCELLENT 

XGOOD 

_FAIR 

_DETERIORATED 

_RUINS 

_UNEXPOSED 

CHECK ONE 

-UNALTERED 

'LALTERED 

CHECK ONE 

~ORIGINAL SITf 

_MOVED DATE __ _ 

to be moved 8/80 

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT ANO ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Presently situated ~n an open field on the southeast side of Riggs Road 
northeast of Claysville, ~he Oaks II is a Ii-story gambrel-roofed structure 
with an adjoining 1-story gable-roofed addition to the east. This 
building and three surrounding outbuildings will be moved to a nearby 
location by the Hontgom.ery County Government this summer. 'i'!le new site 
is a topographically similar 5-acre parcel of land on the northwest side 
of Riggs Road un ~ighth· of a mile northwest of the present site. 

The main block and the addition are both constructed of logs co1mected with 
full dove tail notching and chinlrnd with wood chi:ps, mud, and stone. Doth 
sections were originally covered with horizontal beaded weatherboard 
(visible on the gable wall 1Jetween the main section and the kitchen wing} 
but are now covered ·with simpler unadorned weatherboard~. In the main 
section a huge exterior brick chimney with corbel capping is located on 
the west gambrel wall; a smaller interior brick chimney rises above the 
east facade. The kitchen ·wing displays a massive exterior stone l)ased 
chim .. 11.ey along its east gable wall. 

The main block which faces ID uth is four bays wide with a one- story OlJen 
,,..-. porch spanning the front. The porch with its standing seam ·. tin roof 

and porch posts appears to have replaced an earlier porch. Entrances are 
found in the two central bays • Windows with 6/6 sash flank these doors. 
Both the door and window trim are later modifications. Three shallow 
pedimented gable-roofed dormers pierce the wood-shingled gambrel roof. 
The.west :facade is characterized by a single 6/6 sashed window to the 
north of the chimney. Two smaller 4/2 sashed windows flank the chitm.e.y 
at attic level.· Molded rakeboards and shallow cornice returns further de­
fine this facade. The rear (north) facade is very plain: a doorway op­
posite the main facade's west entrance and a small 6/6 sashed wiwlow to 
the east. The steep gamb~l roof is also distinguished by three shallow 
pedimented gable-roofed dormers. 

The 1-story kitchen wing to the east is two bays ·wide with its primary 
entrance located in t:te 1vestern bay of the oouth facade. A 6/6 sashed 
window is found to the eas:t. A lean-to frame addition extends across the 
north facade. Unadorned rakeboards outline the east gable end. 

Interior 

The main building's floor plan, a double parlor floor plan which features 
single doors on the southern facade leading into .each room, is a first 
:floor plan generally associated with Pennsylvania and northern and western 
counties of Maryland. The southeast parlor exhibits a very fine paneled 
mantel wall, complete with six-panel door which leads through a lobby to 
the mid-nineteenth century one-room addition. the chairrail and trim 
around the 6/6 windows are original. In the upper sash can be read 
"Sam Riggs and Buffalo Bill, Decem 1885." A modern pantry closet, which 
replaced a corner cupboard removed by the Letts family after 1930, has 
been inserted to the left of the mantel. A modern door leads into the 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET :tF NECESSARY 



Item #7 
Description 
continued p.l 

pantry, ,,·11ich is now covered with thin twentieth cm tury vertical 
board paneling. A post 1930s mantel shelf built by Nr. Austin 
Geisbert now covers the original fireplace. 

An orir!inal thin vertical board partition wall separates the two 
parlor~. The door separating both rooms a~pears to be original, 
c01:nlete idth six: raised panels but later 1)0X lock. Later mold­
ing-, a Victorian four-:rianel door on the north {rear) facade of 
the house and a sinple r:mntel replacing the original have altered 
the character of the room, but much of the original decorative 
EJnterial renains. Tiere, the chairrail is intact, and a paneled 
door to a closet below the stairs reveals a nunlJer of wrought iron 
nnils with rose heads and flat points {corroborating the pre-1814 
construction date). Later but still historically significant names 
are scratched into the panes of the windows in the ·western gable and 
read 11 rrux:ton Ridgely N"ov. 27, 1892 11 and below :>t "Lousia Lilly Riggs 
Nov. 27 1892." A· small face." j s also. etc..hed J.nto one pane. 

A tight winder stair in the southwest corner of this parlor rises 
to the second floor. Here is found one ot the most unusual features 
of the building. A hallway runs the entire length of the southern 
facade, leading to a d.oor which opens into a space between the main 
bloclr and the addition. A ladder leads to the attic (here, early 
machine cut nails--brads, for securing the attic flooring-- were 
located, also pointing to a very early nineteenth century date) and 
through the gable end of the building into a small sleeping quarters 
above the addition. The hallway is highlighted by contrasting paint 
colors - cream on tho baseboards, door rails and styles, and darker 
leaf green on tle reir.ra.ining stair balusters and ·wall surfaces. Three 
bedrooms of e qual si·ze are found in the other side mf an original 
vertical beaded board partition ·Hhich runs the length of the hall. 
The first and third doors are original, but with a minor variation. 
Instead of the top two panels, three panes of glass forming a transom 
have been built in. 

As 1d th the rooms on the first floor, much of the original fabric 
can be found. In the northwest bedroom, the chairrail and baseboards 
are intact. The mantel has been re:r.10ved. The central bedroom re­
tains original chairrail and baseboards, and has a window pane read­
ing "S. Iliggs Jan 11 1886. 11 The northeast bedroom exhibits original 
trim, but has also had its fireplace blocked. 

Outbuildings 

Also on the proprrty are several outbuildings which although of later 
period possess architectural and historical signi:ficance. 

An aninal shed, located about 25' northeast of the main house, is 
a nearly square, gable-roofed frame structure of board and batten 
siding. Corner posts and plates are hand cut square members. 
Measuring 10'6" x 14' the building appears to be used for storage. 
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Item i/7 
Descrintion 
continued p.2 

Immediately to the east of this structure is the sraokehouse. This 
building, measuring 14'211 x 14'211 is a board and batten structure. 
Its gable roof is covered with corrugated iron over its original 
dark green shingles. The blackened interior shows hand-he,.m posts 
which support similar hand-hewn plates. A shelf running along the 
western facade appears original. 

About 35' west of the animal shed is a curious building now used as 
a chicken coop but whose original use is unlmmm. This heavy post 
and lintel framing system, hand-hewn, suggests that this structure 
is perhaps the oldest of the group. The construction, features in­
clude windbracing at the corners, and hnnd-he1m rafters roof butt­
jointed and pegged. It is sheathed with board and batten siding and 
has a feather~edged shingle roof. 

Located about 50' from The Oaks II is a bank barn measuring approxi­
matly 61 '. ,x 46' and built on a stone foundation. Its post and beam 
construction is sheathed by vertical beards, punctuated by many 
wooden ventilator panels. 

The water tower, dating from the twentieth century, is built on a 
concrete base. It is sheathed with board and batten, and supports 
a pallet lrl1ich holds a large cistern. This structure,it is believed, 
is unique· i~ the county. · 

The remaining outbuildings which date from the twentieth century 
possess no particular architectural or historical significance 
the windraill, the frame outhouse measuring 4 1 2 x 4'2", a frame 
storage building measuring B' x 12', the frame pump house, the gambrel 
roofed frame barn r1easuring 84' x 40', the frame dairy barn measuring 
30'x 74', the two frame double corn cribs, a tractor &."ld machine 
shed measuring 79' x 22 1 , a chicken coop mea~uring 12' x 20' and 
three hog sheds. Also of little merit is a 2t story frame farmhouse 
which was moved to its present location about 50 years ago by 
Austin Geisbert. This simple, early twentieth century dwelling 
is located just east of The Oaks II .. 
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local history 

The Oalrs II, built between 1797-1814, is significant for its 133-year 
association with the Riggs family, a prominent ~Iontgom.ery County family, 
active in civic and agricultural affairs of both the county and the state. 
The house is a well-preserved, rare exariple for :Montgomery County of a 
Ii story, gambrel-roofed building of log construction. In addition, 
much of its original interior fabric remains intact. .n though the ~ -
!·1ontgor1~ry 'County goverr1Llc11t, -whe recently· :;:n:u:chasecl the 550-acre traqt 
:for the coiistruction o:f a. sani tary.,1angf~l l,. plans· tO' ·move the nain house 
ru.1d th:ree significant outbuildings to a nearby, :parcel of· land, this n~w 
site is part of ·the original Riggs t;ract of land. The use of .this land 
itself holds hi stor:i,~{l.l. ir<J.portance having been farmed qontinuously frOii-.1·· 

~ th§ _eightee11th :.c::<?ntury: and ha-y-iiig ~lJ.ryj_ yed intact in Hontgomery County 
where intensive developrient has been the norm since World War II. The 
continuous use of this property as a farm residence since the eighteenth 
century indicates that archeological deposits docunenting changing arti­
fact patterns through time should be present. The county therefore will 
conduct an archeological survey to insure that these resources will be 
fully investigated. 

In 17971Sarnuel Riggs acquired two parcels of land from Isaac and Hannah 
Briggs. W'hen Riggs died in 1814 he left to his son, Reuben, 222t acres 
"where he now lives." An additional note in his will (probated in ° 
Montgomery County 7/15/1814) states tmt this land was the property 
Reuben's father acquired from the Briggs' on December 9l 1797. County 
tax records of 1804 also list Reuben Riggs owning a 222 2 -acre farm in 
this vicinity. This information suggests tltat the house, The Oaks II, 
was erected between 1797-and 1814 and probably between 1797 and 1804 
by Reuben Riggs. In analyzing the building's fabric, a construction date 
within this time period appears plausible. 

Reuben Riggs, born May 25, 1775, married in February 1805 Nary Willson 
Thomas also from a prominent Montgomery County family. As a prosperous 
gBntleman farmer~ Riggs continued to expand his estate, At one time he 
mmed 800 acres. After his death in 1829, his widow Hary and unmarried 
son Hezekiah remained at The Oaks II. Reuben'~ oldest son Samuel of R 
received a nearby tract of land totaling 282! acres where he and his wife 
Hilcah Griffith renovated The Oaks I.5 This house was probably built , 
by Samuel of R's grandfather, Samuel. After the de.:::l.th of Hezekiah in '1851 
The Oaks .. II farm was also acquired by Samuel of R. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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Item #8 
Statement of Significance 
continued p.l 

Sa.rmel of R continued to purcijasei property, mming at one time almost 
1,000 acres of rich farmland. Ile also pursued a political career, 
serving as county cm;uuissioner f'rom 1856-1861 and as delegate in the 
State Eouse frora 1867-1874. Under his mmership The Oaks II ·was no 
lon'.rer occupied by me:obers of the Iliggs family but tenanted by a farm 
manager, Henry Crockett, w·ho supervised the extensive farm operations 
for SD..::iuel of n. 
Sanuel of R's son, Reuben, inherited the farm after his father's death 
in 1882. It appears that The Oaks II continued to function as housing 
for the farr;l ei~l})loyees. After Ileuben' s death in 1910 his so:p.s ran the 
farn. Sarmel Haines and his family rented 'fhe Oaks II from Sam Riggs III. 

After more than one hundred ye~rs of Riggs ownership the farm was 
sold to John C. Letts in 1930. Before this final transfer of title 
the f&"'1ily graveyard was moved to St. John's cemetery in Olney. Letts, 
who farmed tlle land to grow feed for his dairy cattle at Ayrlawn on 
Old Georgetm.-11 Road, continued to lease the property. Austin Geisbert, 
using a frane house ·which had been moved to the faro as his residence, 
converted The Oaks II into a storage shelter. The Geisberts are 'ddely 
l.;:n01m throughout the state for their farning as lvell as for the acconIJli sh­
i;1ents achieved 1Jy their children in 4-II and State Agricultural Competi­
tions. 

Architecturally, the house is an unusually intact surval of a very early 
nineteenth century log building in Nontgomery County, with much of its 
original architectural detail intact. From a construction standpoint, 
the house is also important as it shows a regional variation in fra."lling. 
At the doorway opening logs appear to be fitted into slotted vertical 
posts, but with their J,ear0ing edge also fitting in front of tle post. 
As one o:f t·hro historic ga:11brel-roofed houses left in the county, these 
factors add ui1 to make The Oaks II trully significant. 

Although archeological investigations have not been conducted, the con­
tinous utilization of this property as a farm residence since the last 
quarter of the eighteenth century should. hnve !1roduced distribution 
patterns of artifacts around the residence and outbuildings which will 
,rove of value in docunenting the changes in Sout.hern Naryland' s rural 
society since the Revolutionary ~iar period. 

Footnotes 
1Hontgomery County Land Records, Nontgomery County Courthouse, 

llockville, Haryland. G/161; H/82. 
2noger B. Farquhar, History of Hontgomery County, Maryland: Old Homes 

C-'",, and History. Nonurnental :'rinting; Co., Baltimore, Hcl.,1952. p. 311. 

3Hontgonery County Land Records. BS 7/283-5. 
4Farquhar, on. cit. p. 310. 

5Houtgonerv Countv Land Records. 512/407. 
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The Hoving of The Oaks II 

The Hontgomery County Governr:ient recently purcllased 1ne Oaks II farn, 
a 550-acre tract, from the estate of John c. Letts for use as a 
sanitary landfill. The county, realizing both its need to find a 
suitable location for this facility and its responsibility to preserve 
the county and the state's cultural resources,has chosen this site since 
it acrnears that this location would affect the least nur.Jber of known 

- cult~~al resources. The obvious adverse iopact on this architecturally 
and historically significant comple::-::: h01:ever has prompted the co1mty 
govenrnent to take the foll01dng action. The historic area work · perni t 
for tl1e construction of the landfill will be issued contingent upon 
several conditons. 

1. The main building at The Oalts II farmstead and three outbuild­
ings (the aninal shed, tlle sno1rnhouse, and the storage shed) 
will be moved intact to a new site. 

2. The water tmi"er a.11d the ;)u;nnhouse will be riacle availabl3 to 
Naryland-National Capital Park and Planning for their use. 

3. 1\.n archeological survey, performed by The llaryland His tori cal 
Trust, will be executed 11rior to construction o:f the landfill. 

4. A ~ositive easement on the property will be given to The 
liaryla..ll.d Historical Trust indicating tllat the restoration of 
both the interior and the exterior !if the farmhouse would occur. 
The'easement would cover both'. the exterior and the interior of 
the farmhouse. The county will r.iake every effort to provide 
funds for the restoration through either its D"wn channels or 
outside support. 

5. The move of the complex 1'lill be :fullyo docueented. 

6. A professional contractor who specializes in moving historic 
1Juildings wlll be employed by the county. 

7. A minimu.TTI 5-arce site will be selected for the buildings. 
This site, located directly across Riggs Road,is similar to 
the original Oaks II site topographically and is part of the 
original :farm of the Riggs family. 

8. The Historic Preservation Commission of Hontgomery County will 
work with the Laytonsville community in attempts to establish 
plans for the adaptive re-use of the buildings. 

9. The Oaks II cor,1ple::;:: w·ill he nominated to the National Re.!!ister 
of Historic Places. 

~ In addition to these conditions, the county will if possible malrn 
available to the community the buildings not approved for preserva­
tion. 



,- The Hovini::: of The Oaks II 
continued p.2 

~n1ile there appears to be no feasible alternative for tlE preservation 
of The Oaks II at its present site, the Hontgomery County Govermuent 
has made great efforts to properly relocate the conplex. 

The ~10i>' setting and the general envirorL"Sent of the i1roposed site is 
tn~ograp11ically sinilar to the original site. Located not more 
than an eighth of a mile northwest of the rresent site, this parcel 
of land \\·as also used as grazing fields by the :rrevious owner of 
The OaJ:s II. :l-Iore ir,:.:)Qrtantly, it was part of the original tract of 
land farned by the Iliggs fanily. This open field, bordered to the 
south bv a sraall cluster of aal:c trees and to the north by an interni ttent 
strea!'J, w perhaps more syr1pathetically evokes the original· setting of 
The Oaks II. Its present site has been compromised by the intrusion 
of several ti;ventieth century structures and by the loss of many of its 
shade trees. 

In its present condition, the property's architectural integrity has 
also been challenged. Used as a storage shelter by its previous 
Qi;ner, the main building has been abandoned for nany years. The three 
outlmildings have received minimal maintenance. W11ile these build­
ings have escaped severe structural danage and have retained a surpris-

,~-- ing anount of their original fabric, they are in need of preservation 
attention. T:1e county has co:mmi tted then.selves not only to moving 
but also to restoring these structures, thus saving and preserving a 
group of buildings of great architectural significance. 

Although it is doubtful that this complex will continue to function 
as a farm on its ne1v location, the county has plau •. ~ed for its adaptive 
reuse. Two alternatives include returning the property to private 
mmership or ·_making it available to the neighboring town, Laytonsville, 
as a coL11:mni ty center. The first proposal would not affect the in­
tegDity of the complex since it would only be returning to its 
original use, that of a priv~te residence. ~The second suggestion 
would not dramatically alter the historical integrity of The Oaks II 
since":the Riggs_faI'lily has played an active role in the civic and 
agricultural affairs of the comr.mnity. 

The Oalrn II c01~1ple:x represents an important architectural and historical 
resource of the county and the state. In its effor-~ to preserve 
this pro;ierty, the Montgomery County Government has sought to waintain 
its architectural and historical integrity and reestablish its 
immediate setting and general environ.~ent. 



M: 23-26 

.A.CHS SUMlYLl\RY FORM 

The Oaks II (Riggs House) 

2. Planning Area/Site Number 23/26 3. MNCPPC Atlas Reference Map 8 
L-12 

4. Address 6010 Riggs Road, Claysville 

5. Classification Summary 

Category building 
Ownership nublic 
Public Acquisition _________ ~-----~~~ 
Status unoccupied 
Accessible __ __.~--~~~~----------~ 
Present use a~riculture; other, storage 
Previous Survey Recording M-NCPPC Federal __ State_.x_County.JL_Local_ 
(Title and date: Inventory of Historical Sites - 1976 ) 

6. Date 1800-1814 7. Original Owner Reuben Riggs 

8. Apparent Condition 

10. 

1"' -C.. 

fair 
a.~------------~--------~ C original site 

·~-----------------------~ 
b. une.l tered 

Description: Facing southwest along a farm lane, the Oaks II is built of logs 
covered with weatherboards, and has a steep gambrel roof. It has a four bay 
facade; the two center bays are doorways, and the two end bays have six over 
six windows. Three slightly projecting dormers on the front roof have six 
over six sash and pediment type heads. A one-story open porch spans the 
front. Huge fireplace chimneys are on both exterior end walls. A smaller 
clapboarded log kitchen wing with an external stone base chimney is attached 
on the east end of house. The floor nattern for both floors is three rooms 
in a row. A circular corner stairway~leads upstairs to a fairly wide front 
hall (vii th dormer windows) connecting the bedrooms. 
Significance: The Oaks (I is important architecturally for its gambrel roof, 
its unusual upper hallway, and its dormer windows; and historically for its 
early construction date, and its associations with the Riggs family--prominent 
in County civic and agricultural affairs. The Oaks II was built by Reuben 
Riggs between 1800 and 1814 on land his father Samuel had purchased in 1796 
from Isaac and Hannah Briggs. ~~en Reuben died in 1829, his wife Mary re­
ceived the Oaks II and 282f acres, which their son Samuel eventually acquired 
in 1853. Samuel by 1860 owned i,ooo acres, and had a farm manager living in 
the Oaks. Samuel served as a County commissioner from 1856-1861 and in the 
State House or Delegates from 1867-1874. The Riggs farm was sold out of the 
family in 1930 to John c. Letts, who leased it to Austin Geisbert. Geisbert 
lives at the farm> and uses Oaks II for storage. The County govern-
ment purchased the farm for possible use as a landfill in 1977. 

Date researched and researcher 2/79 ... Anne Wolf 

Compiler Gail Rothrock 13. Date Compiled 2/79 

l ~ A 250 acres 7 • • '1..creage 

Candy Reed 
Architectural Description 

14. Designation 
Approval __ 
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MAGI: MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST 

INVENTORY FORM FOR STATE HISTORIC SITES SURVEY 

6NAME 
HISTORIC The Oaks II 

AND/OR COMMON 

Riggs House 

---~flLOCATION 
STREET & NUMBER 6010 Riggs Road 

CITY. TOWN CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT 

Claysville ...x. VICINITY OF Laytonsville 6 
STATE 

MaryJand 
llcLASSIFICATION 
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_DISTRICT X.PUBLIC 
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NAME Montgomery County 
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,£,:NO 
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Montgomenr 
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LAGRICULTURE 

_COMMERCIAL 

_MUSEUM 

__ PARK 

_EDUCATIONAL _PRIVATE RESIDENCE 
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__ GOVERNMENT _SCIENTIFIC 

_INDUSTRIAL _TRANSPORTATION 

_MILITARY X_oTHER: storage 

Telephone #: 279-1000 

County Office Bldg., 100 Maryland AvemJ.::> 
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REGISTRY OF DEEDS,ETC. Montgomery County Courthouse 
STREET & NUMBER 

CITY, TOWN 

Rockville 
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TITLE 

M-NCPPC Inventory of Historical-Sites 
DATE 
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Liber #:512 
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DEPOSITORY FOR 
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CITY, TOWN 

Park Historian's Office 

Rockville 
STATE 

Maryland 2085'2 



II DESCRIPTION 

_EXCELLENT 

_GOOO 

LFAIR 

CONDITION 

_DETERIORATED 

_RUINS 

_UNEXPOSED 

CHECK ONE 

XuNALTERED 

-ALTERED 

CHECK ONE 

X_oR1GrNAL SITE 

_MOVED DATE __ _ 

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

There are 2 houses on this site. 

I. The Oaks II faces southwest along a farm lane leading to Riggs Road •. · 
This is a very interesting structure; it is presently being used for 

storage on this farm. It faces south with a four-bay facade, the two 
center bays being occupied by doorways. Six over six windows compose the- -
end bays. The structure is built of logs and covered with weatherboards.­
The roof is a steep, gambrel roof--something extremely rare for Montgomery 
County. There are three dormers on the front roof that project slightly. 
These have six over six sash, and pediment-type heads. A one-story, open · 
porch spans the front. Huge brick fireplace chimneys on both exterior 
end walls. A smaller kitchen wing, also of clapboarded logs, is attached 
to the east end of the house. This features an external stone base chimney. 

There are some additional interesting features. First, three dormer 
windows are also on the back roof, so that each of the upstairs bedrooms 
has a dormer window to the northeast. The logs are visible by the attic 
stairwell at the point where the kitchen was added. 

The basic house pattern for each floor is three rooms in a row. On 
the ground floor, there are two front doors and a back door, so that each 
of the rooms is accessible from outdoors. The Lettses removed the large 
mantel in the third room and closed off the other fireplaces. They als -
took out a corner cupboard next to that mantel and installed a pantry 
instead. A circular corner stairway in the kitchen addition was behind 
that cupboard, and the pantry occupies its space. Perhaps as a result of 
that change, the floor above the old cupboard slants noticeably. Otherwise, 
the floors and ceilings seem quite sturdy, although the paint and plaster 
are deteriorating. 

, There is a circular corner stairway in the first room. It leads up­
stairs to a fairly wide front hall (with dormer windows) connecting the . 
bedrooms. At the opposite end of the upstairs hall is the door leading to 
the attic stairs and to the area above the kitchen. At present the only 
way to get from the kitchen to the room above it is to enter by the stair~ 
way at the opposite end of the house. 

The house is presently used by the Geisberts to store not only their 
o\vn possessions but also some old furniture and assorted items left from -
other farmers decades ago. 

The significance of The Oaks II to Montgomery County architecture is 
pointed out by some comments in a history of the county, A Grateful 
Remembrance: 

The typical 'plantation house' of eighteenth-century 
Montgomery Coilnty was ••• a low, one or two-room cabin 
with a sharply pitched roof extended to cover a narrow 
porch. Children or slaves slept in the loft, climbing 
to their room on a ladder. The planter might add a 
su.mmer kitchen or an ell for storage. The log house 
was covered sometimes by plank; less frequently, it was 
a brick or stone structure ••• Montgomery County's sur­
viving eighteenth-century farmhouses are almost all of 
this type8 Tax assessments made.such dwellings the 
universal rule. 

(Continued on Attachment Sheet A) 
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Tax assessments combined with the vagaries of the tobacco market 
kept much of Montgomery County too impoverished or cautious to 
build homes comuarable to the estates on the Eastern Shore or in 
Southern Maryland. Consequently the touches of style and individ­
ualism incoruorated into The Oaks II make it even more remarkable 
than its size. While the log and clapboard construction and the 
kitchen addition are typical of the times, the gambrel roof, the 
unique upper hall, and the dormer windows make this a singular 
home surprisingly well preserved. 

II. The newer, main farm house was hauled to its present location 
about 50 years ago, pulled across the field by a single horse. 

This simple, 1-plan, two and a half story, frame house faces east 
on Riggs Road, and is located south of The Oaks II. 

Built on stone foundations, it has white aluminum siding. 
Across the east elevation, and level with the ground is a field­
stone porch. The east door has six wooden panels and is surmounted 
by a one light transom. Windows throughout the house are six over 
six double hung and are flanked by black metal louvered shutters. 
On the south elevation there is a two story, three-sided, bay 
window composed of one over one double hung windows. On the south 
side of the bay there is a pair of one over one windows. 

The house has a cross gable roof which is covered by raised 
seam metal. The cornice line is returned at the gable ends. There 
are two interior stove chimneys and one exterior end chimney on the 
south elevation. A shed roofed, one story frame addition has been 
erected on the northwest corner of the north elevation. 

The house is set in the midst of a stand of oaks. Northwest of 
the house is a barn with board and batten siding and a gable roof 
with flanking shed roofs covered by corrugated metal. Southwest of 
the house is a square shed with board and batten exterior walls and 
a gable roof covered by raised seam metal roofing. 
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These are obviously sketches fr6m memory, not scale drawings at all. 
However, they make make the text a little easier to understand. 
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Local History 

SPECIFIC DATES 1800-1811+ BUILDER/ARCHITECT Reuben Riggs 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

In addition to its architectural significance, The Oaks II is also 
important for its associations with a prominent Montgomery County family, 
the Riggses--active in civic and agricultural affairs. 

The land on which Reuben Riggs built The Oaks II was originally part 
of the huge Addition to Brooke Grove tract resurveyed for James Brooke in 
1762. Vacancies between tracts and portions of the larger tracts often 
acquired names of their own, so that by the time the Riggs Farm was assem­
bled, the tracts named were A:ddi tion to Brooke Grove, Fair Hill, Resurvey 
of Brooke Park, Ridgeley's Ridge, and Sure Bind, Sure Find. 

The land remained in the Brooke family almost until the end of the 
eighteenth century. In the division of land owned by Thomas Brooke, the 

,,,..--._and in question was laid off for Roger Brooke. There were several Brookes 
oy that name, but the one mentioned was probably Roger Brooke IV, whose 
daughter Hannah married Isaac Briggs in 1791+.l 

Isaac Briggs, an accomplished engineer and scientific farmer, is said 
to arrived in Montgomery County in 1791+ with his father, Samuel Briggs. 
The two men built "Sharon" -- a log and frame house -- on Roger Brooke's 
land in 1791+~5. Hannah Brooke Briggs bought a house and land from her 
father in 1795, apparently the "Sharon" house, where they lived unti.Isaac 
Briggs died in 1830.2 Thus, although Isaac and Hannah owned the property 
on which The Oaks II is built, there is little likelihood that they would 
have had the time, need, or inclination to build a house during the timE~ 
they owned that land. On the other hand, had a house the size of The 
Oaks II been there, "Sharon" would have been unnecessary. 

The Briggses sold the land in question to Samuel Riggs in two separate 
- sales in March, 1796, and December, 1797.3 His will, processed June 15, 

1811+, lists his wife, Amel:ia (Dorsey), as deceased and names six surviving 
sons -- Thomas, Reuben, George Washington, Romulus, Remus, and Elisha -­
and three daughters -- Polly Griffitµ, Henrietta Gaither, and Julia Riggs. 
In that will, Reuben Riggs was left 222f acres "where he now lives 11 and 
had presumedly built The Oaks II1 with the n~te that this is the land 
acquired from Isaac and Hannah Briggs on:December 8, 1797. 

Reuben, son of Sam and A.melia, was born May 25, 1775. He married 
Mary Willson Thomas of a local family in February, 1805. The county tax 
records for 1804 list Reuben Riggs as owning 222f acres, the same amoUt~t 
of land his father left him with the note that it was "where he now lives." 

,,,..... Reuben and Mary Riggs had seven children. Their t·wo sons were Samuel 
1d Hezekiah. One daughter, Everline, died as an infant. Four other 

~aughters Jane, Elizabeth, Julia, and Mary -- married local farmers. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY(Continued on Attachment Sheet C) 
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When Reuben Riggs died in 1829, only one of his seven children 
had reached adulthood. Accordingly, he left directions that the 
land should be divided when Samuel, the older son, was 21 years 
old. At that point Samuel and Mary, the widow, were to select two 
or more respectable neighbors to divide the land fairly. 

This they did. Five years later, Samuel and Mary chose two 
of Reuben's brothers, Thomas and Remus, as well as a local farmer, 
Ephraim Gaither. 

Samuel received Lot 1, which would seem to be the wooded area 
north and west of the present Riggs Road, boardering on the golf 
course. He had 188i acres of land which his grandfather had gotten 
from Roger Brooke. Mary received Lot 2, a tract of 282t acres 
including the land purchased from the Briggses. This is the land 
bordering the Laytonsville-Olney Road, now Route 108, and is the 
land which included The Oaks II. 

This division was recorded in court August 5, 1835.4 By that 
time -two of the daughters and Samuel Riggs of R had married. Samuel 
reconditioned The Oaks I house for himself and his new bride. 

Mary apparently lived in The Oaks II with the single children. 
By 1841, all the children except Hezekiah had married. Lot 2 is 
mentioned in an 1845 indenture,5 in which Hezekiah declared himself 
in debt to Samuel for $11000, promising to repay the loan in two 
years, and offering Lot 2 as security. 

The 1850 census listed household 173 (probably The Oaks II) as 
Mary w. Riggs, 62, and Hezekiah Riggs, 32, farmer, and value of 
$2,240 for the property. Household_l74 is Samuel Riggs of R with a 
wife, six children, and a value of $3,500. 

Samuel Riggs of R acquired Lot 2 in 1853. His brother Hezekiah 
had died unmarried and intestate in 1851. Hezekiah's heirs were 
Samuel and the four married sisters, and in 1853 Samuel petitioned 
the court for a settlement of the estate. In the settlement the 
value of the property was assessed at $5,786.12!. Samuel, as eldest 
son, elected to take the land and pay off his sisters' shares in 
cash. 

(Continued on Attachment Sheet E) 
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By the time of the 1860 census, Nary Riggs was not living at 
Oaks II. She would have been 72, and she had married daughters 
nearby. Possibly, Henry Crockett lived in the house as farm 
manager. Crockett was from a family in the Laytonsville-Damascus 
area, and is listed for household 440 as 74 years old and a farm 
manager, living with wife Mary. Three blacks are listed in this 
household -- Thomas Lea, 61, farm hand, Ann King, 34 cook, and 
John King, a four-year-old. 

Samuel Riggs of R, his wife, and seven children are listed as 
household 441. Reuben, 20 years old, is also called a farm manager. 
Samuel Riggs had acquired almost a thousand acres of farm land and 
was politically active, ~,erving as a County Commissioner from 1856-61 
and in. the State House of Delegat:es from 1867-71+. It would have taken an 
experienced manager and hand in addition to his own three teenaged boys to 
run the farm, as well as a cook for the fourteen of them plus hired 
hands as needed. It is probable, that The Oaks II passed from a 
phase as "Grandma's house" to a·phase as the headquarters for Riggs 
employees after Mary Riggs moved out. She died in 1874. 

Samuel Riggs of R; died in 1882, and the property passed to 
his son Reuben. Reuben, born in 1839, married first Martha Hughes 
Canby and after her death, Emma Jones. His children were Samuel III, 
Benjamin, Lula, and William Canby Riggs. After Reuben's death on 
August 1, 1910 his sons ran the farm. At this point the acreage 
amounted to 316.589 acres; in addition to the land mentioned before, 
land had been acguired from William Bogley7 (about 28 acres) and 
from John Benson6 (about 3 acres). Samuel Haines and his family 
rented the farm from Sam Riggs III for several years. Mr. Haines 
had previously been a hand for a farmer named Best on Route 27 near 
the Baptist church, but eventually he eloped with the farmer's 
d_aughter. The Ha~neses had five children -- Laura, B':uce, Simon, Ruth 
(Hrs. Ernest Hawkins), and Merle -- and they were active in the 
church and school life of Claysville and Laytonsville. Later they 
bought their own place on Goshen Road just west of Laytonsville. 

In preparation for the sale of the property, William C. Riggs 
moved family graves and stones from a burying ground on the property 
to St. John's cemetery in Olney. 

The Riggs farm was sold to John C. Letts in 1930,9 and rented 
out since that time. When John c. Letts took over the farm, he used 
it to grow feed for his dairy cattle at Ayrlawn Farm on Old Georgetown 
Road. Austin Geisbert had worked for Letts at the other farm, and he 
and his family leased and settled at the Riggs fa.rm, using the frame 
house which had been moved to the Oaks II area as their home and 
using Oaks II for storage. 

The Geisberts have lived on the Letts farm for 41 years and are_ 
widely known across the state for their farming as well as for the 
c:i.ccomplishments achieved by their children in 4-H and state agricul­
tural comuetitions. 

The ffontgomery County Government recently purchased the farm 
from the estate of John c. Letts for possible use as a landfill. 

(Continued on Attachment Sheet E) 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

This is a very interesting structure, that is presently 
being used for storage on the farm here. It faces south with a 
four-bay facade, the two center bays being occupied by doorways. 
6/6 windows compose the end bays. The structure is built of 
logs and covered with weatherboards. The roof is a steep, gambrel 
roof-something extremely rare for Montgomery County. There 
are three dormers on the front roof that project slightly. These 
have 6/6 sash, and pediment-type heads. A one-story, open porch 
spans the front. Huge brick fireplace chimneys on both exterior 
end walls. A smaller kitchen wing, also of clapboarded logs, 
is attached to the east end of the house. This features an 
external stone base chimney. 
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This house is extremely rare for Montgomery County and 
possesses a number of superior architectural details. It is 
one of the most notable buildings in the entire County. 
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H1sTOBIC MoNTOOl\lERY CouNTY, !\fAnrt,AND :~11 

An t of the National Park Seminary of J!~orest 
HI 

'1'l1is old farm mul interesting house, so full of 
interC'st to one of Maryland's most eminC'l1t 
fumilies, was purchased a few yearR ngo by Mr. 
Hny A. Rohcrt::i, nnd he is u1:1i11g it in connection 
with his adjoining dairy fnrm. 

Oth<'t' sons of 8amucl, Jr., II, nud Laura 
t llownnl Rigg:-i, who arc living, are Lnurie 
hlcnyurd Riggi-11 a prominent attomey-nt-lnw of 
Hnltimore, and Douglass Howard Riggs, a life­
long n•sidcnt and successful farmer of )[011t­
gomcry Uounty. 
/rl1t> photograph taken rrcently shows the old 

original part of the house with details iudic•atin~ 
construction before 1800. 

To the rcnr of the di11ing room is n kit<-hen 
with a la1·ge stone fircplu<·c, nud ht•hincl thnt 
in a rear wing is an out :-;idt• k"itch<'n with firt'­
places six feet wide and five feet high with t•ranc. 

1 n this ol<ler part of the house, plniu si..x­
panclc<l doors an<l small :,;ush with luuul-mndt• 
glnss arc typi<•nl of liouSl'S known to lu\Yc hem1 
IHlilt nt the time of the Revolution. On th<' sec­
ond floor arc thr('c hedrooms in this part. '£here 
11 rc still four door:-< in th<' house which han• loeks 
with the brass stamps showing the Lion and 
Unicom of the Hrifo;h Empire. 

The Oaks II 

K,l.BEN RIGGS I, born ~lay 25, 1775, at 
PIC'asant Hill, was a son of Samuel and 
Amelia Dorsey R iggs, and is believed to 

I luwt• lmilt the quaint little house shown above. 
The house stands on the grant of 7,f>O<i n<'r<>s 

1ni~ to .J umcR H,rookc in 1762, and named, 
'' l - .. tit ion to Brooke Gro,·c." It wa~ probahly 
bnilt uhout th~ tim" he married May \Yillson 
Thoma~ in 1805. His wife was born Mart•h 29, 
1788. 8he was u <laughtP.r of Major Hezekiah 
Thomas and J nne White Thomas of }font­
gonwry County. 

Reuben inheritca some laud froru his father, 
1 
Samuel, hong11t ac·reage himself, anc1 became a 
prosp<'rous farmer on ve1·y good Montgome1·y 

1 ( 'onnty farm land. He owned at one time 800 
nc-n~!i in hi::i plantation. Ile died in 1829. The 
<)t.~ :-; I was on his land. Ile lived most of ltis 
lift•,iu th~ housC' t1hown above. He preferred it. 

Snnnwl Higg~ of R was :!O years of age when 
l~e marrie<l ~Iilcali ,V. Griffith, April 2.J., 1813, 
antl it is helif'vecl tlmt he lived at Oaks II before 
th<'y <'stnhli:-;Jie<l tbc-mselvcs at The Oak~ I. 
'f uc ol<l house ut fluks I wa~ rccon<litione<l for 
tho hride Ul](] ~room. (For the detailed sto1·y of 

• Sanmcl Higgs or' R. see The Oaks 1.) 
j Jn lHl:!-14 this picturesque lionst• with uhout 

:!70 uc·rcs of rkh farm lund whicl1 hurl \>t'en 
ow1w1l hy the Rig~s family for at least a century 
nutl 11 linlf was sol<l to Mr. ,John C. Letts for use 

lairy farm. Mr. J,ctt"' wai; founder of 'J1he 
t11ry Gro(•1•ry Company, later known a s Tl.Jc 

XO. 19 D-8 HEPBEN' RIGGS LOGS C.\ . 1805 

Safcwav Stor<'s. whid1 moYcd its l'X<'Cnti>e 
olli<·cs from ·w ·ashington to Cnlifomin. 

1'hc neat littl<> house shown does not look 
nmcl1 like n loµ: <•nhin, huilt, a <•cuturr ancl a half 
ago, hut suC'h i:-: it:-'l hi~tory. .An examination 
rc\'<.'als man~· primitin~ fonturcs. 'l' he wing to 
tho right, with the• lmg<' rou.~h chimtH'Y, hacl n 
wide fir<'plat·<> ini-;i1l<', a front and rC'nr door. nncl 
pine floors, woru clown l\llll t·rackecl. 

'l'hc l<1 ft-hnntl front door h•a1ls into n clinin~ 
room which ha~ 11 fin•pltu•t• 1111cl rear door. 8tnirs 
an~ in the cxtr1•111e• lt•ft-haml room, whirh lead to 
two rooms up:;t niJ·i-;. 'l'hc thr<'t' dormer windows 
011 both front nud rear roofs arc real antiques. 

1 111 n pa1w of ft.!:ass in one of tbc rooms il' to 
he plainly acc.n ... S n m Rig~~. l 885.,, 

'J'ho bright attructiv~ a ppcaran<'f' of the houst• 

' 
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~ F. D. Magruder, B. Aug. 1, 1815, 'D: 6~24~1864. • ··tained ~bout. 2ooacres of la~:lwaS; ~old by the 
Blessed are. the dead who die. in the Lord, fot; 'iiheirs of :B,letcher)viagruder to·Jacob OI11u.d of 
they rest from their labor and thefr works do F~ederick. County who brought a large family 

''· follow them." · ,,, . 'to Montgomeryf Oland wa$ .an excellent farm-
It is reliably stated that Fletcher Magruder's . er, and his soris,are among the best·ii;i. the county 

third· venture into the sea of matrimony, not o:f! their adoption .. Th.~ father died in 1920, and 
long before his death, was only a short time af- · the sons carried :on the home place for the 
ter the death of his second spouse. This time he mother. .. . .. . 
married Martha Lumsden, who out-lived him a In 1938 Mrs •. Oland sold the farm to .Malcolm 
dozen years. · One of the distant Magruder H. White, of Washington, who is the present 
cousins was a pallbearer at Martha (.Lumsden} owner. She mqved into a pleasant new bunga­
Magruder 's funeral about 1912, and followed · low on the highway near Sunshine~ Mr. and Mrs. 
her remains on a long railroad journey to White left.the old stone mansion intact with its 

. Georgetown to lay them beside her husband,. , memories and builf a handsome Colonial type 
buried there. brick house on an elevation above the old house. 

About 1898 the old plantation which then con~ .It has extensive views. ·· 

. ROlling Ridge 
17" 

T HI~J • unusually picturesque hon. se shown bought· Rolling Ridge Farm in 1S36 and moved 
. here is located in the western edg(;l .of . to Montgomery County~ In due time farael 

•,the town of Laytonsville.·. The type of .,,Warfield inherited th~ farm. isrttel and Maria 
four-chimney house, very rare in Montgomery· ··Warfield had nine children.,' One, daughter, 
County, is quite common in t4e tidewater area Lena, becaine the wife of Dr. V: H. Dyson who 
of Maryland. It was built about 1790 by Robert., was a life-long resident of the neighbornood and 
Ober, a prosperous merchant of Georgetown. . .. 'a revered physician. They lived in a home on 

Ober was of English descent and ·married. the farm,'within the edge ,of the village of Lny­
Catharine Tenney, a daughter of Dr. Samuel tonsville. Another daughter,, Elizabeth, mar­
Tenney, Surgeon General in the Revolutionary ried F. 0. Webb of Washington; She died in 
War. They had both come from New England September; 1942. 
and settled on the farm until it passed to the One of the four sons died before maturity. 
Warfield family. Ober was known to have been . When the three remaining becaine of age, their 
an influential .and loyal supporter of the U nite~l i father ·"c'alled them. together and announced: 
States in the War of 1812. . "Now that you are grown it is time for you 

A daughter of Robert . and Catharine was. to :go out and make your own way in the world. 
Martha J. Ober, born November, 1809. In 1829 ','This farm of 250 acres cannot properly support 
she married Elisha Riggs Griffith'who was born.. such a. large family.'' · · 
in June, 1805. Martha 0. Griffith died in 1833, Robert o.··w arfield, the oldest, we'nt to Balti­
and Elisha Griffith married. Elizabeth Gaither more, learned dentistry, and practiced that pro­
who was a daughter of Frederick and Jane fession for forty-seven years in Rockville from 
(Gartrell) Gaither. A daughter of this ~ast- 1889 to 193p. ·Another son, Israel Griffith War­
named couple, Maria G. Gaither, born in 1838, field, Jr.; practiced dentistry for many years in 
was married in 1860 to Israel Griffith Warfield. Gaithersburg and died a number of years ago. 

During the Civil ·war, as Israel G. \Varfield, The third son., Elisha G. Warfield, living at the 
Sr., was needed on the farm, he was allowed to age of 84, is a retired paint manufacturer in 
purchase a substitute in the Army, which he did New Jersey. · 
for $750. . . An interesting incident involves Elislia G . 

. When· Israel G. \Varfield was four years 'old ''Varfield, the only one living of this large family 
ibis father, Robert.\Varfield of Howard County, fo tell the tale; which he heard from the lips of 
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Real Property Search - Individual Report 

Click here for a lain text ADA corn )liant screen. 

Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY 
Real Property Data Search 

Account Identifier: District - 01 Account Number - 02326577 

Owner Information 

Owner Name: 

Mailing Address: 

HANDLER, HENRY M & A K 

5815 RIGGS RD 
LAYTONSVILLE MD 20882 

Use: 
Principal Residence: 

Deed Reference: 

Location & Structure Information 

RESIDENTIAL 
YES 

1) I 6195/ 514 
2) 

Page 1of1 

M: · ?e: 6 

Go Back 
View Map 
New Search 

Premises Address 
5815 RIGGS RD 
GAITHERSBURG 20882 

Zoning 
RDT 

Legal Description 

Map Grid 
GV61 

Special Tax Areas 

Parcel 
P911 

Sub District 

Town 
Ad Valorem 
Tax Class 

Subdivision 
1 

42 

Section 

ADD TO BROOKE GROVE 

Block Lot Group Plat No: 
82 Plat Ref: 

Primary Structure Built 
1924 

Enclosed Area 
2,180 SF 

Property Land Area 
5.47 AC 

County Use 
111 

Stories 
2 

Land: 
Improvements: 

Total: 
Preferential Land: 

Seller: 

Basement 
YES 

Type 
STANDARD UNIT 

Value Information 

Base 
Value 

90,120 
143,430 
233,550 

0 

Value 
As Of 

01/01/2003 
124,120 
164,000 
288,120 

0 

Phase-in Assessments 
As Of As Of 

07/01/2003 07/01/2004 

251,740 
0 

269,930 
0 

Transfer Information 

Exterior 
FRAME 

Type: IMPROVED ARMS-LENGTH 
Date: 09/28/1983 
Deedl: / 6195/ 514 

Price: $43,000 
Deed2: 

Seller: 
Type: 
Seller: 
Type: 

Partial Exempt Assessments 
County 
State 
Municipal 

Tax Exempt: NO 
Exempt Class: 

Class 
000 
000 
000 

Date: 
Deedl: 
Date: 
Deedl: 

Exemption Information 

07/01/2003 
0 
0 
0 

07/01/2004 
0 
0 
0 

Price: 
Deed2: 
Price: 
Deed2: 

Special Tax Recapture: 

*NONE* 

http://sdatcert3.resiusa.org/rp _rewrite/detail.asp?accountnumber=O 1 +02326577&county=1... 8/25/2003 
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Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY 
Real Property Data Search 

District - 01Account Number - 02326577 

p 911 

Page 1of1 

f1:Z"~·76 

Go Back 
View Map 
New Search 

Property maps provided courtesy of the Maryland Department of Planning ©2001. 
For more information on electronic mapping applications, visit the Maryland Department of Planning 

web site at www.mdp.state.md.us/webcom/index.html 

http://sdatcert3.resiusa.org/rp _rewrite/maps/showrnap.asp?countyid= 16&accountid=O 1 +02... 8/25/2003 
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M: 23-26 
The Oaks II (Riggs Farm) (moved 1980) 
5815 Riggs Road, Laytonsville 
Sandy Spring Quadrangle 
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M: 23- 26 OAKS II 

House circa 1930 . Photograph from George Bell 
Collection, original housed with Michael Dwyer , 
Maryland National. Capital Parks and Planning 
CoI'!'lIDission. 
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Jennifer K. Cosham 
March 7, 2004 
Digital color photo on file at MHT 





Jennifer K. Cosham 
March 7, 2004 
Digital color photo on file at MHT 





Jennifer K. Cosham 
March 7, 2004 
Digital color photo on file at MHT 
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Jennifer K. Cosham 
March 7, 2004 
Digital color photo on file at MHT 



Attachment Sheet J M: 23/26 
The Oaks II (Riggs House) 

Front view of Oaks II - August 1978 

Austin Geisbert and rear of Oaks II - August 1978 



Attachment Sheet I - The Oaks II (Riggs House) M: 23/26 

Cellar entrance - August 1978 

East side of Oaks II showing 
added on lean- to - August 1978 

Chimney on west side - Augy.st 1978 

East side of Oaks II showing 
old chimney in kitchen - August 1978 





OAKS II M: 23-26 

house circa 1930 

(from George Bell Collection, 
original housed with Michael 
Dwyer, MNPPC) 





Michael F. Dwyer 
M.N.C.P.P.C. 

_ear:k Historian 





Michael F. Dwyer 
M.N.C.P.P.C. 
fark Historian 

NAME 771£-. (J1JJ::.S {RIGGS Jbus£) 
LOCATION Rf, /tJ5' r/--,e/QSS ,.e:i 

1 
..U~#SWU4 Rd. 

FACADE SW 

PHOTO TAKEN .3/K/79 



Attachment Sheet H - The Oaks II (Riggs House) M: 23/26 
~ 

' ' 

s. Riggs scratched on window 
with diamond ring in 1885 is 
~Aintlv vi~ibla - iu~ust 978 ~~~~ 





M: 23-26 OAKS II 
Laytonsville, Montgomery County, Md. 
Ellen Coxe January. 1980 
Negative located at Md. Historical Trust 
Board and batten smokehouse 


